

Report | June 2025

What Drives Vehicle Ownership Costs in India?

A Segment-wise Analysis for India's Road Transport

Authors

Sabarish Elango Dharshan Siddarth Mohan Himani Jain Hemant Mallya Virendra Ade Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb{O}}$ 2025 Council on Energy, Environment and Water (CEEW).

BY NC	Open access. Some rights reserved. This work is licenced under the Creative Commons Attribution- Non-commercial 4.0. International (CC BY-NC 4.0) licence. To view the full licence, visit: www.creativecommons.org/licences/ by-nc/4.0/legalcode.
Suggested citation:	Elango, Sabarish, Dharshan Siddarth Mohan, Himani Jain, Hemant Mallya, Virendra Ade. 2025. What Drives Vehicle Ownership Costs in India? A Segment-wise Analysis for India's Road Transport. New Delhi: Council on Energy, Environment and Water
Disclaimer:	The views expressed in this report are those of the authors and do not reflect the views and policies of the Council on Energy, Environment and Water.
Cover image:	iStock. For illustrative purposes only.
Peer reviewers:	Sudhir Gota, Co-team Lead, Asian Transport Observatory; Spurthi Ravuri, Research Scientist, Center for Study of Science, Technology and Policy (CSTEP), and Karan Kothadiya, Programme Lead, CEEW.
Publication team:	Purnima P. Vijaya (CEEW); Alina Sen (CEEW); The Clean Copy; MADRE Designs, and FRIENDS Digital Colour Solutions.
Acknowledgments:	The authors would like to express their gratitude to Krishna Khanna, Programme Associate, CEEW; Anannya Jha, Research Analyst, CEEW; Nilanshu Ghosh, former Research Analyst, CEEW, and Aravind Harikumar, former Programme Associate, CEEW, for their contributions to the study.
Organisation:	The Council on Energy, Environment and Water (CEEW) —a homegrown institution with headquarters in New Delhi—is among the world's leading climate think tanks . The Council is also often ranked among the world's best-managed and independent think tanks . It uses data, integrated analysis, and strategic outreach to explain—and change—the use, reuse, and misuse of resources. It prides itself on the independence of its high-quality research and strives to impact sustainable development at scale in India and the Global South. In over fourteen years of operation, CEEW has impacted over 400 million lives and engaged with over 20 state governments. Follow us on LinkedIn and X (formerly Twitter) for the latest updates.
	COUNCIL ON ENERGY, ENVIRONMENT AND WATER (CEEW) ISID Campus, 4 Vasant Kunj Institutional Area New Delhi – 110070, India +91 11 4073 3300 info@ceew.in ceew.in 🌋 @CEEWIndia 🚾 ceewindia



What Drives Vehicle Ownership Costs in India?

A Segment-wise Analysis for India's Road Transport

Sabarish Elango, Dharshan Siddarth Mohan, Himani Jain, Hemant Mallya, and Virendra Ade

> Report June 2025 ceew.in

Total cost of ownership captures the full lifecycle cost of buying, operating, and reselling a vehicle, offering a more holistic basis for comparison.

Image: iSto

-

.

U

.

0

About CEEW

The <u>Council on Energy, Environment and Water (CEEW)</u> is one of Asia's leading not-for-profit policy research institutions and among the world's top climate think tanks. The Council uses **data, integrated analysis, and strategic outreach to explain – and change – the use, reuse, and misuse of resources**. The Council addresses pressing global challenges through an integrated and internationally focused approach. It prides itself on the independence of its high-quality research, develops partnerships with public and private institutions, and engages with the wider public. <u>CEEW is a strategic/knowledge partner to 11 ministries for India's G20 presidency</u>.

The Council's illustrious Board comprises Jamshyd Godrej (Chairperson), S. Ramadorai, Montek Singh Ahluwalia, Dr Naushad Forbes, Dr Janmejaya Sinha, Dr Suresh Prabhu, and Vinita Bali. The executive team of 350+ researchers is led by <u>Dr Arunabha Ghosh</u>. CEEW has repeatedly featured <u>among the world's best-managed and independent think</u> <u>tanks</u>.

In over 14 years of operations, the Council has engaged in 500+ research projects, published 460+ peer-reviewed books, policy reports and papers, created 220+ databases or improved access to data, advised governments around the world 1,400+ times, promoted bilateral and multilateral initiatives on 160+ occasions, and organised 610+ seminars and conferences. In July 2019, Minister Dharmendra Pradhan and Dr Fatih Birol (IEA) launched the <u>CEEW</u> <u>Centre for Energy Finance</u>. In August 2020, <u>Powering Livelihoods</u> – a CEEW and Villgro initiative for rural start-ups – was launched by Minister Piyush Goyal, Dr Rajiv Kumar (then NITI Aayog), and H.E. Damilola Ogunbiyi (SEforAll).

The Council's major contributions include: informing India's net-zero goals; work for the PMO on accelerated targets for renewables, power sector reforms, environmental clearances, and *Swachh Bharat*; <u>pathbreaking work</u> for India's G20 presidency, the Paris Agreement, the HFC deal, the aviation emissions agreement, and international climate technology cooperation; the first independent evaluation of the *National Solar Mission*; India's first report on global governance submitted to the National Security Advisor; support to the *National Green Hydrogen and Green Steel Missions*; the 584-page *National Water Resources Framework Study* for India's 12th Five Year Plan; irrigation reform for Bihar; the birth of the Clean Energy Access Network; the concept and strategy for the International Solar Alliance (ISA); the Common Risk Mitigation Mechanism (CRMM); India's largest multidimensional energy access survey (ACCESS); <u>critical minerals for Make in India</u>; India's climate geoengineering governance; analysing energy transition in emerging economies, including Indonesia, South Africa, Sri Lanka, and Vietnam. CEEW published Jobs, Growth and Sustainability: A New Social Contract for India's Recovery, the first economic recovery report by a think tank during the COVID-19 pandemic.

The Council's current initiatives include: state-level modelling for energy and climate policies; planning for the consumer-centric smart metering transition and wholesale power market reforms; <u>modelling carbon markets</u>; piloting business models for solar rooftop adoption; projecting fleet electrification and developing low-emission zones across cities; <u>assessing green jobs potential at the state level</u>, designing a circular economy for solar supply chains and wastewater; assessing carbon pricing mechanisms and India's carbon capture, usage, and storage potential; <u>developing a first-of-its-kind Climate Risk Atlas for India</u>; designing sustainable cooling solutions; developing state-specific dairy sector roadmaps; supporting India's electric vehicle and battery ambitions; and <u>enhancing global action for clean air via a global commission called 'Our Common Air'</u>.

The Council has a footprint in over 20 Indian states, working extensively with 15 state governments and grassroots NGOs. Some of these engagements include supporting <u>power sector reforms in Uttar Pradesh</u>, Rajasthan, and Haryana; informing energy policy in Rajasthan, Jharkhand, and Uttarakhand; driving <u>low-carbon transitions</u> in Bihar, Maharashtra, and Tamil Nadu; promoting <u>sustainable livelihoods in Odisha, Bihar, and Uttar Pradesh;</u> <u>advancing industrial sustainability in Tamil Nadu</u>, Uttar Pradesh, and Gujarat; evaluating community-based <u>natural farming in Andhra Pradesh</u>; supporting groundwater management and e-auto adoption; and examining <u>crop residue burning in Punjab</u>.

Electric two-wheelers are already more costeffective to own and operate than petrol models. G

Contents

Executive summary	1
1. Introduction	5
1.1 Need for total cost of ownership (TCO) based analysis	5
1.2 Vehicle segments considered in the study	6
1.3 Fuels and technologies considered	7
2. Parameters of TCO	9
2.1 Capital costs	10
2.2 Fuel costs	11
2.3 Fuel economy and annual mileage	13
2.4 Loan and resale particulars	14
2.5 Maintenance costs	15
3. Results and discussion	17
3.1 Two-wheeler	17
3.2 Three-wheelers	18
3.3 Four-wheeler, taxi and SUV	19
3.4 Bus	21
3.5 Light goods vehicle (LGV)	22
3.6 Medium and heavy goods vehicle	23
4. Sensitivity analysis	25
4.1 Two-wheeler	25
4.2 Four-wheeler	26
4.3 Bus	27
4.4 Light goods vehicle (LGV)	29
4.5 Heavy goods vehicle (HGV)	30
5. Conclusions and policy recommendations	31
5.1 Limitations and data uncertainties	31
5.2 Overall conclusions	32
5.3 Recommendations	33
Acronyms	35
References	36

Electric three-wheelers are seeing a surge in registrations due to their lower total cost of ownership.

975

25 5

2

11

THE MARKET PARTY AND

Executive summary

Total Cost of Ownership (TCO), driving a broader and more strategic evaluation of long-term vehicle expenses across the automotive industry. Consumers use TCO analysis, either directly or indirectly, to make informed, long-term vehicle purchase decisions. This analytical approach reveals the true costs of operating and maintaining vehicles throughout their life cycle, moving beyond the simple purchase price to uncover hidden expenses and opportunities. This analysis has proven particularly valuable for evaluating emerging vehicle technologies. For instance, when comparing electric vehicles (EVs) with traditional combustion engines, TCO analysis pinpoints exactly when and under what conditions these technologies reach cost parity. Several studies have used TCO as an instrument to investigate the uptake of different powertrain types, especially EVs (Hagman, et al. 2016; Liu, et al. 2021; Wu, Inderbitzin and Bening 2015; Palmer, et al. 2018; Bubeck, Tomaschek and Fahl 2016).

In the context oF the Indian automobile market, where consumers are highly cost-conscious, TCO plays a significant role in purchase decisions. It includes upfront downpayment costs, taxes, road tax, operating expenses including energy, maintenance, and insurance costs, and the resale value, providing a holistic assessment of costs incurred.

The following are the major parameters of TCO:

- **Capital costs**: The initial purchase price of the vehicle, including any subsidies or incentives.
- **Taxes and fees:** This includes Goods and Services Tax (GST), cess, and road tax, which can significantly impact the overall cost.
- **Fuel costs:** The cost of fuel over the vehicle's lifetime, which varies based on fuel type and market fluctuations.
- **Fuel economy and annual mileage**: The fuel economy refers to the efficiency of a vehicle in converting fuel into distance travelled, typically expressed as kilometres per litre (km/l) for conventional fuels or kilometres per kilowatt-hours (km/kWh) for electric vehicles. Annual mileage denotes the total distance a vehicle travels in a year, varying across different vehicle categories. Together, these metrics influence fuel costs and subsequently the TCO.
- **Loan and resale particulars**: The terms of any financing used to purchase the vehicle and its expected resale value at the end of its useful life.
- Maintenance and insurance costs: Regular maintenance expenses and insurance premiums, which are essential for keeping the vehicle operational and legally compliant.



Consumers rely on total cost of ownership (TCO) analysis directly or indirectly when making vehicle purchase decisions Our study compares the TCO of different fuel types within ten distinct vehicle segments, shown in Figure ES1.





Note: This analysis assumes diesel taxis are unavailable due to the widespread phase-out of diesel variants.

Key findings

- **Two-wheeler (2W)**: Electric two-wheelers are already cheaper on a TCO basis than their petrol counterparts, with a national average of INR 1.48 per km when compared to INR 2.46 per km for petrol. The relative lack of EV options, higher upfront costs, concerns around reliability, and accessibility of charging infrastructure are among the major reasons why the share of electric two-wheelers in total sales is still low.
- **Three-wheeler (3W)**: For three-wheeler passenger vehicles, CNG is, on average, a more cost-effective option compared to petrol and diesel. However, EVs remain the most economical choice on a TCO basis even in 2024, for both passenger and goods three-wheelers (3W-P and 3W-G). The cost hierarchy of fuels that are cheaper to own and operate is: EV (INR 1.28 per km), CNG (INR 2.35 per km), diesel (INR 2.69 per km), and petrol (INR 3.21 per km).
- Four-wheeler (4W) and SUV: For four-wheelers, EVs are cheaper on a TCO basis than other fuels in many states. However, in some states, due to higher charging tariffs and lack of road-tax waivers for EVs, the TCO for CNG and petrol are more competitive. Petrol-electric hybrid vehicles, often considered a good compromise between internal combustion engine (ICE) and EV, are significantly more expensive, making them uncompetitive in this segment against EVs. For the SUV segment, petrol and diesel will continue to remain much cheaper than their counterparts; petrol hybrids have a competitive TCO in some states where the fuel prices are higher.

Source: Authors' compilation

- **Taxi**: For the taxi segment, running costs play a bigger role in the TCO than the capital costs, as taxis have a much higher annual mileage compared to private cars. This makes EVs substantially cheaper to own for taxi drivers. CNG is the next cheapest option, and taxis running on this fuel have been widely adopted in cities and districts that have a good CNG refuelling infrastructure. By 2030 and beyond, petrol hybrids may become another important option in some states where CNG availability is limited.
- **Bus**: The TCO of e-buses needs to reduce significantly to compete with diesel buses. CNG and LNG buses have a lower TCO on average than diesel buses but are limited by the respective distribution infrastructure. Green hydrogen buses will remain uncompetitive till the late 2040s, post which green hydrogen fuel cell electric vehicle (H₂-FCEV) buses have a lower TCO than green hydrogen internal combustion engine (H₂-ICE) buses due to their higher fuel efficiency.
- **Light Goods Vehicle (LGV)**: Among LGVs, EVs are much cheaper already in 2024. The usage patterns of LGVs, being primarily for short trips in more urbanised regions (also like 3W-G), make them more suitable for an EV transition.
- **Medium Goods Vehicle (MGV) and Heavy Goods Vehicle (HGV)**: For MGVs and HGVs, EVs are more expensive than diesel, CNG, and LNG in 2024. LNG is the cheapest fuel at present for HGVs, but refuelling infrastructure is nearly non-existent. While the TCO of electric M&HGVs will decline to become competitive beyond 2030, EV trucks will still be limited by a substantially lower range than diesel or gas-powered trucks (~250 km per charge vs ~600–800 km per refill). Thus, for the lower TCO to translate into market adoption, fast-charging capacity for heavy duty vehicles needs to be expanded significantly, and new battery technologies with higher energy density need to be commercialised. In addition, dedicated charging infrastructure needs to be deployed, with lower input costs of power to reduce the charging tariffs. Post 2040, H₂-FCEV trucks may become a suitable choice for long-distance routes, while electric trucks may get deployed on intra-district, short-haul segments.

Recommendations

- **Battery financing schemes:** Decoupling the battery cost of the vehicle from the capital expenditure (CAPEX) and instead charging a monthly rental/equated monthly installment (EMI) for the battery pack may prove beneficial to reduce the CAPEX burden on EV buyers. The Government of India, through public banks and non-banking financial companies (NBFCs), can provide a fixed scheme for battery rentals across all vehicle segments rather than relying solely on original equipment manufacturers' (OEM) schemes. Such a scheme can prioritise domestically manufactured battery packs for commercial/goods vehicles, where the assembled cost of the battery pack is repaid by the consumer as a loan at a fixed rate.
- **Establishment of LNG corridors**: LNG-powered buses and trucks currently have the lowest TCO in their respective segments. In states that have access to LNG terminals, refuelling stations can be established along key highways that have regular movement of buses and trucks. The government must revise and upkeep its target for deployment and operation of LNG stations and come up with standardised guidelines and regulations on setting up and operating LNG stations, and for selling LNG.



Battery financing schemes that decouple the battery cost from the upfront cost could hasten the adoption of electric vehicles • **Data generation and transparency on running costs**: The government can empower leading institutions like the Indian Institutes of Technology, along with the Automotive Research Association of India (ARAI), to carry out public trials of diesel, CNG, EV, and H₂ buses and trucks on a comparative basis over a period of one year to generate data on maintenance costs, fuel efficiency, performance, etc. to better understand the status quo and avenues of improvements.

State transport corporations and OEMs may provide operations and maintenance cost data in a more transparent manner by revealing the breakdown of the chosen gross-cost contract (GCC) tariffs. State transport authorities can also furnish running cost data on an annual basis for their diesel, CNG, and electric bus fleets separately.

• **R&D on emerging technologies for M&HGVs**: EVs are less competitive in the M&HGV segment, primarily because of limitations in battery range and extended recharging times. To enhance their competitiveness in this segment, more research efforts are required to improve energy density and reduce charging durations. Additionally, research efforts should also prioritise exploring diverse and advanced battery chemistries to support this transition.

Green hydrogen FCEVs may be more viable for long-distance, heavy duty operations, offering refuelling times comparable to diesel while eliminating tailpipe emissions. However, green hydrogen FCEV trucks are currently six times more expensive than diesel trucks. Therefore, parallel research efforts are required to accelerate this transition and realise the potential of hydrogen in long-haul transportation.

The government can create a consortium comprising OEMs, policymakers, researchers and scientists to prioritise and foster innovation and research and development. Such an initiative would not only drive technological advancements, but also ensure India remains globally competitive and aligned with international standards in emerging technologies.

1. Introduction



The advent of electric vehicles (EVs) has brought a renewed focus on the total cost of ownership (TCO) concept, prompting a comprehensive evaluation of long-term vehicle expenses across the automotive industry. The TCO is the cost incurred per kilometre over the life of the vehicle for buying, driving, maintaining and selling a vehicle. It is a broad metric that sheds light on the total costs incurred while owning a vehicle over its lifecycle, looking beyond comparisons of only the capital cost at the time of purchase.

1.1 Need for total cost of ownership (TCO) based analysis

Calculating the TCO is essential for transport sector modelling and policymaking, as it allows for more precise long-term cost projections and impact evaluation of different policies (e.g., fuel taxes, subsidies, or emissions regulations) on the overall cost of various transport options. Comparisons in TCO also allow stakeholders to predict the adoption of new technologies and fuels based on the projected change in costs. By factoring in various costs over time, TCO helps in evaluating and modelling financial risks associated with different transport options. Several studies have used TCO as an instrument in investigating the uptake of different powertrain types, especially EVs (Hagman, et al. 2016; Liu, et al. 2021; Wu, Inderbitzin and Bening 2015; Palmer, et al. 2018; Bubeck, Tomaschek and Fahl 2016).

India has one of the largest and fastest-growing automobile industries in the world. Mohan et al (2025) examined the growth potential of various vehicle types based on expected changes in population and GDP. The study found that the total vehicle stock in the country is likely to grow by 2.2 times between 2023 and 2050. In this study, we use TCO to gauge the likelihood of energy transitions occurring in the transport sector, i.e., shifts from petrol/diesel to CNG, to electric, and also to green hydrogen. Based on prevailing and expected prices of vehicles,

fuels, annual maintenance, etc., we evaluated the likely inflection points for such fuel transitions for each vehicle category considered by the Mohan et al (2025) study. We followed the guiding principle that in a highly cost-conscious and largely economically sensitive market, consumers will directly (in the case of fleet operators) or indirectly (in the case of individual consumers) make a purchase decision based on TCO.

1.2 Vehicle segments considered in the study

The vehicle categories (i.e. segments) considered in this study are broadly classified into ten:

Two-wheeler (2W): Both scooters and motorbikes were combined under this category. Three-wheeler passenger (3W-P): Three- to five-passenger auto-rickshaws. e-carts (i.e., cheaper e-rickshaws that operate at lower speeds) were not considered, as they are a newer segment that is yet to be fully regulated. Three-wheeler goods (3W-G): All cargo three-wheelers (other than e-carts). Private four-wheeler hatchback/sedan (4W): All privately owned four-wheelers that do not meet the GST Council's definition of a sports utility vehicle (SUV) (Central Board of Indirect Taxes and Customs 2024). Private four-wheeler utility vehicle (SUV): All privately owned four-wheelers that meet the GST Council's definition of an SUV (Central Board of Indirect Taxes and Customs 2024). 4W taxi (Taxi): All four-wheeler light passenger vehicles registered as taxis available for contract carriage. Bus: Twelve-metre buses used for either stage or contract carriage; minibuses were excluded because publicly available data on vehicle registrations (i.e., the VAHAN portal) does not specifically identify minibuses and large vans. Light goods vehicle (LGV): Cargo vehicles with a gross vehicle weight (GVW) of less than 7.5 tonnes, which refers to the total weight of the vehicle when fully loaded. Medium goods vehicle (MGV): Cargo vehicles with a GVW between 7.5 and 12.0 tonnes. Heavy goods vehicle (HGV): Cargo vehicles with a GVW greater than 12.0 tonnes.

We considered agricultural vehicles like tractors and tillers to be out of the scope of our analysis, as they perform specific tasks in each sector that do not necessarily amount to 'transportation'. Specialised vehicles like disabled-carriage vehicles, fire tenders, etc. were not included as they form a very small part of the overall vehicle stock.



Total cost of ownership (TCO) helps evaluate and model the financial risks of different transport options

1.3 Fuels and technologies considered

The powertrain types considered include the conventional ones (petrol, diesel, CNG) and also newer technologies (LNG, hybrid, electric, green hydrogen). We considered LNG as an option for buses and HGVs as they enable travel over longer distances using natural gas compared to CNG vehicles. We considered petrol-electric hybrids in the analysis even though there are only a few models on sale today, as there are plans to introduce more affordable hybrids by simplifying and indigenising the technology (Sorabjee 2024). For hydrogen-fuelled vehicles, we considered both green hydrogen fuel cell electric vehicles (H₂ FCEV) and green hydrogen internal combustion engine (H₂ ICE) vehicles. While the former is the more advanced and more efficient technology, the latter is substantially cheaper and can be produced by adapting existing engine designs and manufacturing facilities, thus bringing green hydrogen to the market more quickly. We analysed green hydrogen-fuelled vehicles in only the bus, medium- and heavy duty segments as an option to minimise refuelling times; for smaller vehicles, electrification is cheaper and much more energy efficient. The CNG option for twowheelers is not considered in this study, as it is currently limited to a single OEM, and market adoption has yet to be ascertained. Table 1 shows the vehicle categories and their fuel types considered in this analysis.

S. No.	Notation	Segment	Considered fuel types
1	2W	Two-wheeler	Petrol, electric
2	3W-P	Three-wheeler passenger	Petrol, diesel, CNG, electric (and legacy LPG)
3	3W-G	Three-wheeler goods	Petrol, diesel, CNG, electric (and legacy LPG)
4	4W	Private four-wheeler hatchback/sedan	Petrol, diesel, CNG, electric, petrol hybrid
5	SUV	Private four-wheeler utility vehicle	Petrol, diesel, electric, petrol hybrid
6	Тахі	Commercial 4W	Petrol, CNG, electric, petrol hybrid (including legacy diesel)*
7	Bus	Bus (12-metre)	Diesel, CNG, LNG, electric, hydrogen internal combustion engine (ICE), hydrogen fuel cell electric vehicle (FCEV)
8	LGV	Light goods vehicle; GVW < 7.5 tonnes	Diesel, CNG, electric
9	MGV	Medium goods vehicle; 7.5 < GVW < 12 tonnes	Diesel, CNG, electric, hydrogen ICE, hydrogen FCEV
10	HGV	Heavy goods vehicle; GVW > 12 tonnes	Diesel, CNG, LNG, electric, hydrogen ICE, hydrogen FCEV

Table 1 Vehicle categories and powertrains considered in this analysis

Source: Authors' compilation

*Note: This analysis assumes diesel taxis are unavailable due to the widespread phase-out of diesel variants.

Liquefied natural gas (LNG) is currently the most cost-effective option for buses and heavy goods vehicles (HGVs), with hydrogen fuel cell vehicles likely viable by the early 2040s.

-

GOODS (CARRIER

...

Δ

SUCCEPTION OF STREET

-

Supph

2. Parameters of TCO

The total lifetime costs of owning a vehicle can be broadly categorised into capital costs and operating costs. The capital costs include the upfront cost of buying a vehicle (or the capital expenditure, CAPEX), the taxes imposed by the central and state governments (goods and services tax, (GST) central excise and service tax, (cess) and road tax), and the interest payments (in case of a loan). The operating costs comprise fuel expenses, maintenance and insurance, recurring road tax (in the case of commercial vehicles), and battery replacement cost (in the case of EVs). The capital and operational costs are quantified for the vehicle types identified in Table 1 for future years from 2024 to 2050.

While the CAPEX and the fuel costs are the most significant components of the TCO, solely examining these two factors would not capture the intricacies between different powertrains. The upfront cost to buy a vehicle might be a burden in the initial years, but over a longer ownership period of 10 to 15 years, recurring costs such as insurance, maintenance, repair, and road tax gain more significance. So, it is imperative to establish sound methodologies to quantify these cost components to gain a holistic perspective of the TCO.



Figure 1 Analytical framework for estimating TCO in vehicle purchase decisions

Source: Authors' illustration

Note: Battery replacement cost is considered only for EVs.

The scope of this study is to estimate the TCO of different vehicle segments and their powertrains at a state level, and to compare powertrains within a vehicle segment. The TCO framework incorporates diverse parameters, some demonstrating uniformity across states; others displaying regional variability. Standardised parameters include CAPEX, interest payments, discount rate, resale value, GST and cess, and fuel economy. State-specific parameters include road tax, subsidies, and fuel prices. This comprehensive approach enables us to factor in state-level nuances in determining the cost of owning a vehicle.

2.1 Capital costs

We obtained data on the model-wise sales for the year 2022–23 across vehicle segments from reports published by the Society of Indian Automobile Manufacturers (SIAM 2023). We used the top 90 per cent of best-selling models in each vehicle segment to calculate the weighted average prices reported by automotive websites (such as Carwale, BikeWale, TrucksDekho, etc.). These prices are given in Annexure 1. Then, for each state, we calculated the final price paid by the consumer (on-road price) by adding the GST and cess set by the central government, and the road taxes and subsidies set by the state governments (CEEW-CEF n.d., MoPNG 2024).

For simplicity, we assumed that the costs of vehicle types that use established technologies and fuels (such as petrol, diesel, CNG, and LNG) will be constant for the projected years. For newer technologies and fuels (such as EV, petrol hybrid, hydrogen ICE, and hydrogen FCEV), we assumed that the CAPEX would decrease over time due to reduction in battery and component costs, and technological improvements in fuel-cell vehicles. These assumptions largely hold true because the analysis is on a real currency basis. The only change in costs is due to the technical and commercial efficiency gain in green technologies. Any changes in material input, labour and other manufacturing costs will largely equally impact fossil or green fuel alternatives. We also assume that given the high maturity of ICE engines and the focus on green technology development, there might not be any significant improvement in ICE engine efficiency in the future.

- The price difference between petrol and petrol hybrid variant is around INR 3 lakh (Carwale n.d.). The average price of a Maruti Suzuki petrol car is around INR 9 lakh (CarDekho n.d.). Assuming the same price difference between petrol and petrol hybrids, we assumed that hybrids will be made available at INR 15 lakh by 2025–26, with the prices coming down to INR 12 lakh by 2030.
- We used projections by BloombergNEF (2023) that suggested lithium-ion battery prices would reach USD 80/kWh by 2030, from around USD 130/kWh currently. From 2030 onwards, we assumed the price remains at USD 80/kWh.
- We assumed H₂ ICE and H₂ FCEV trucks and buses to be about 2x and 5x that of a conventional diesel vehicle of comparable size and capacity (Office of the Principal Scientific Advisor to the Government of India 2023). With mass manufacturing, we expect the price premium of H₂ ICE to reduce to about 1.3x by 2035, based on approximate timelines provided by manufacturers. For H₂ FCEV, we assumed that the premium will linearly decrease to about 1.5–1.6x by 2050, as the technology is not mature globally and indigenisation will take time.



The total cost of ownership varies across states due to differences in tax rates, fuel prices and subsidies

2.2 Fuel costs

Fuel costs often form the bulk of the TCO, especially for public vehicles like taxis, trucks and buses that cover long distances every day. In our analysis, we have six types of fuels: petrol, diesel, CNG, LNG, electricity, and green hydrogen. The following subsections explain the methods for projecting the fuel prices. The fuel prices used in the model are provided in Annexure 2: Fuel price assumptions and projections.

Petrol, diesel, CNG, and LNG

For petrol, diesel, CNG, and LNG, we used price build-up models that consider various costs and taxes along the supply chain to different states. This enables analysis of the impact of taxes and import prices.

Figure 2 Fuel price build-up formulae for petrol, diesel, CNG and LNG



Source: Authors' illustration based on MoPNG 2024. Indian Petroleum & Natural Gas Statistics. New Delhi: Ministry of Petroleum and Natural Gas; and Elango, Sabarish and Hemant Mallya 2021. Small-scale LNG for Expanding Natural Gas Access in India. New Delhi: Council on Energy, Environment and Water.

Figure 2 shows the price build-up formula for petrol, diesel, CNG and LNG. For petrol and diesel, the price build-up formula and data were obtained from MoPNG (2024). We assumed the past 10-year average crude price of 80 USD/bbl for all future years for the baseline estimation. We calibrated our price estimates by comparing the calculated retail selling prices with the actual retail selling prices in different states reported in 2023. We factored differences at a state level using an adjustment factor that accounts for differences in refinery outputs, margins, and freight costs.

For natural gas, retail price formulae or their components are not clearly defined in any publicly available reports. Thus, for CNG and LNG, we prepared internal price build-up formulae, building on existing CEEW research published in 2021 (Elango and Mallya 2021). Data on gas prices and taxes were obtained from MoPNG (2024) and Petroleum Planning and Analysis Cell (2024). We assumed dealer margins based on the financial reporting of different leading gas transmission and city gas distribution (CGD) companies (GAIL India Ltd 2023, Mahanagar Gas Limited 2023, Indraprastha Gas Limited 2023, Adani Total Gas Limited 2023).

Electricity

For electricity, we considered both residential electricity prices across different states and EV charging-specific tariffs for the states that have set them. Reports published by the Power Finance Corporation Limited (2022) provided the residential electricity prices as the average revenue per unit sold. The Bureau of Energy Efficiency (n.d.) provided the state-specific tariffs for EV charging stations for those states that have notified the same. We assumed that, by 2050, these input power tariffs will be 25 per cent lower due to dedicated access to cheaper renewable power, and lower energy storage costs.

For these public charging stations, we calculated the approximate tariff for three categories of chargers—3–9 kW AC (for 2W, 3W, and 4W); 10–30 kW DC and AC (for 4W and LGV), and >50 kW DC (for bus, MGV, and HGV)—based on the cost of setting up and operating charging stations (Cars24 2024, Shah 2019, DIYguru n.d., BSES Rajdhani Power Limited n.d.). On account of varied sources, we assumed capital costs of INR 50,000, INR 250,000, and INR 1.25 million for each of the above charger capacities respectively, with a 30 per cent overhead for miscellaneous equipment. We assumed annual operating costs to be about 35 per cent of the total capital costs (primarily going towards land leases). We also considered a revenue margin of 10 per cent.

Based on comparing EV charging tariffs with charging service providers Statiq (n.d.), we assumed that the 3–9 kW and 10–30 kW chargers have an effective capacity utilisation factor of 22 per cent (30 per cent for 18 hours/day and 350 days/year), which rises to 54 per cent (75 per cent for 18 hours/day and 350 days/year) by 2050. In 2024, electricity tariffs for the 3–9 kW category across all states range from INR 8.7/kWh to INR 18.2/kWh. Assuming a discount rate of 10 per cent, this range is projected to decrease to a range from INR 4.9/kWh to INR 11.8/kWh by 2050. For the 10–30 kW category, the tariff is currently between INR 8.2/kWh and INR 17.7/kWh and will decline to a range from INR 4.7/kWh to 11.6/kWh by 2050.

We assumed the 40–100 kW chargers to have an effective capacity utilisation factor of 29 per cent (30 per cent for 24 hours/day and 350 days/year), which rises to 72 per cent (75 per cent for 24 hours/day and 350 days/year) by 2050. In 2024, the electricity tariffs for the 40–100 kW category across all states range from INR 9.8/kWh to INR 19.1/kWh, declining to a range from INR 5.3/kWh to INR 12.1/kWh by 2050.

Green hydrogen

We obtained the current prices of green hydrogen for states having good solar and wind-solar hybrid generation potential (Mallya, et al. 2024). Based on the declining price trends expected, we assumed that the green hydrogen production costs will be USD 2-2.5/kg (depending on the state) in 2030, declining to about USD 1.5-1.9/kg by 2040 and USD 1.0-1.3/kg by 2050.

Similar to the electricity tariff calculations, we developed a model to calculate the cost of green hydrogen refuelling based on equipment and operating costs (Melaina and Penev 2013; Hecht and Pratt 2017; Eißler, et al. 2023). Publicly available data on refuelling costs in the present day typically indicate costs higher than USD 10/kg; this is due to the very small scale of refuelling networks and very low utilisation rates, such as in the state of California in the U.S. (Weeks and Soria 2024).

We took the green hydrogen compressor and storage costs given by Eißler, et al. (2023) for a 350-bar compressor. We referred to Hecht and Pratt (2017) for the capital costs of other equipment; we recalculated these costs for a larger station dispensing 1,000 kg H₂/day. We took five per cent of the total capital costs to be the annual operating costs. We assumed that the utilisation rate of the stations rises from 30 per cent in 2030 to 80 per cent by 2050. Based on these assumptions, and a discount factor of 10 per cent, we calculated the levelised cost of dispensation to be USD 2.2/kg in 2030, linearly declining to USD 0.8/kg by 2050. The overall costs of delivered green hydrogen thus range from USD 4.2/kg in 2030 to USD 1.8/kg in 2050.

2.3 Fuel economy and annual mileage

To calculate the annual fuel expenses for a given vehicle, we need the typical annual mileage (i.e., kilometres travelled) and the fuel economy (i.e., kilometres travelled per litre of fuel). We collected data on the real-world fuel economy of various vehicles on sale currently using information provided by reliable automotive reviewers (such as Autocar India), automotive information websites (like CarDekho, ZigWheels, etc.) or from studies (where up-to-date reviews were not available).

Vehicle segment	Petrol	Petrol hybrid	Diesel	CNG	LNG	Electric	H₂ICE	H ₂ FCEV
	(km/l)	(km/l)	(km/l)	(km/kg)	(km/kg)	(km/kWh)	(km/kg)	(km/kg)
2W	45.0					38.0		
3W-P	25.0		30.0	35.0		15.0		
3W-G	30.0		30.0	35.0		15.0		
4W	14.0	20.0	18.0	20.0		7.0		
SUV	9.0	18.0	12.0			5.0		
Тахі	14.0	20.0	18.0	20.0		7.0		
Bus			5.5	6.5	6.5	1.0	10.0	16.6
LGV			17.3	16.5		5.8		
MGV			7.7	9.1	9.1	1.5	12.0	20.0
HGV			5.0	5.9	5.9	0.8	9.1	15.1

 Table 2 Average fuel economy figures for different vehicle types

Source: Authors' compilation from various sources

Table 2 shows the average fuel economy values considered for each vehicle type. We considered values for annual mileage based on the typical daily usage patterns of different vehicle segments. For instance, 2W are used primarily for commuting (distances vary between urban and rural regions), with increasing utilisation for food and courier delivery services. On the other hand, taxis, buses and trucks drive for much longer distances every day, as they are sources of income for their owners and operators.

Vehicle segment	Daily mileage (km)	Source	Annual mileage (km)
2W	30	Sati, Powell and Tomar (2021)	9,900
3W-P	100	Tigari and Santhosh (2020)	33,000
3W-G	100	Tigari and Santhosh (2020)	33,000
4W	35	Gupta (2018)	11,550
Taxi	200	Assumed	66,000
SUV	35	Gupta (2018)	11,550
Bus	225	Estimated based on fuel consumption	74,250
LGV	90	Malik and Tiwari (2017)	30,000
MGV	150	Malik and Tiwari (2017)	50,000
HGV	340	Estimated based on fuel consumption	85,000

Table 3 Annual mileage assumptions for different vehicle segments

Source: Authors' compilation

Note: Annual mileage estimates assume that the vehicles will operate for 330 days/year.

Table 3 shows the vehicle segment-wise daily and annual mileage assumptions. There is no country-wide survey data that provides such data across vehicle segments. Using regional survey data or data from specific case studies causes inaccuracies in the overall fuel demand. For example, we observed mismatches between the calculated versus total annual fuel demand given by MoPNG (2024). Using the segment/fuel-wise vehicle stock data from Mohan, et al. (2025), we tried to roughly estimate the total national fuel demand for past years for each vehicle segment using the formula:

 $Annual \ fuel \ demand = Vehicle \ stock \times \frac{Annual \ mileage}{Average \ fuel \ economy}$

To correct any mismatches observed in the calculated versus actual total petrol and diesel consumption, we adjusted the mileage assumptions for different vehicle segments.

2.4 Loan and resale particulars

For all vehicle segments except bus, LGV, MGV, and HGV, we assumed that 20 per cent of the capital cost is paid by the buyer as a down payment, while the remaining 80 per cent is paid as monthly instalments. For the four aforementioned segments, we assumed that the entire cost of the vehicle is paid through instalments, and no amount is paid upfront.

We also considered the salvage value of the vehicle at the end of its useful life based on a fixed depreciation rate of 10 per cent from the capital cost. The average number of ownership years is derived from the medium survival rates, where the average ownership period corresponds to the point at which 50 per cent of registered vehicles in each segment are removed from the vehicle stock (Guttikunda 2024).

Vehicle segment	Ownership years	Loan repayment years	Interest rate (%)
2W	10	3	11.5
3W-P	13	4	23.1
3W-G	13	4	23.1
4W	11	7	8.1
Тахі	10	8	8.1
SUV	12	7	8.1
Bus	13	5	11.5
LGV	15	5	11.5
MGV	14	5	11.5
HGV	14	5	11.5

Table 4 Loan particulars for different vehicle segments

Source: Authors' compilation

Note: Interest rates and loan repayment years are averages compiled from various banks

2.5 Maintenance costs

Each vehicle type has different maintenance and servicing costs, depending on the complexity of the drivetrain, number of parts, wear and tear based on typical usage, etc. Internal combustion engine (ICE) vehicles have a larger number of moving parts compared to electric vehicles, thus having greater requirements for regular maintenance. However, EV batteries (which constitute a substantial portion of the vehicle cost) may need replacement after around 2,500 charge cycles (the batteries degrade with repeated cycles of charging and discharging, thus reducing range). We therefore considered annual maintenance costs in INR/km, along with battery replacement costs once or twice over the life of the vehicle (calculated based on the vehicle's range and number of charge-cycles it would undergo to cover the annual mileage assumptions in Table 3).

Vehicle type	Fuel type	Insurance cost (%)	Maintenance cost (INR/km)	Note
2W	EV	1	0.22	Assumed same delta as 3W
2W	Petrol	1	0.31	
3W-P and G	CNG	1	0.64	
3W-P and G	Diesel	1	0.61	
3W-P and G	EV	1	0.42	
3W-P and G	Petrol	1	0.61	Assumed same as diesel
4W and taxi	CNG	0.9	0.50	Avg. of top-90% of best-selling models
4W and taxi	EV	0.85	0.28	Avg. of top-90% of best-selling models
4W and taxi	Petrol	0.6	0.30	Avg. of top-90% of best-selling models
4W and taxi	Petrol hybrid	0.8	0.58	Avg. of top-90% of best-selling models
4W	Diesel	0.9	0.5	Avg. of top-90% of best-selling models
SUV	Diesel	1.38	0.77	Assuming the difference as capex delta between 4W and SUV $% \mathcal{W}^{(1)}$
SUV	EV	1.84	0.58	Assuming the difference as capex delta between 4W and SUV $% \mathcal{W}^{(1)}$

Table 5 Maintenance cost assumptions by vehicle type

Vehicle type	Fuel type	Insurance cost (%)	Maintenance cost (INR/km)	Note
SUV	Petrol	1.23	0.61	Assuming the difference as capex delta between $4W$ and SUV
SUV	Petrol hybrid	1.27	0.86	Assuming the difference as capex delta between 4W and SUV
Bus	CNG	1	13.36	Values for transit bus; taking ratio to diesel bus cost given by Vijaykumar et al. (2024)
Bus	Diesel	1	13.36	
Bus	EV	1	7	
Bus	H ₂ FCEV	1	10.2	Values for transit bus; taking ratio to diesel bus cost given by Vijaykumar et al. (2024)
Bus	H ₂ ICE	1	13.36	Assuming same as diesel
Bus	LNG	1	13.36	Values for transit bus; taking ratio to diesel bus cost given by Vijaykumar et al. (2024)
HGV	CNG	1	10.57	Average of single-unit and combination long-haul truck
HGV	Diesel	1	9.80	Average of single-unit and combination long-haul truck
HGV	EV	1	6	Assuming same price spread as bus (we account for battery replacement costs separately)
HGV	H ₂ FCEV	1	7.9	
HGV	H ₂ ICE	1	9.80	
HGV	LNG	1	10.57	
LGV	CNG	1	0.64	
LGV	Diesel	1	0.61	
LGV	EV	1	0.42	
MGV	CNG	1	10.32	
MGV	Diesel	1	9.80	
MGV	EV	1	6.75	Assuming same delta as LGV (we account for battery replacement costs separately)
MGV	H ₂ FCEV	1	6.75	Assuming same as EV
MGV	H ₂ ICE	1	9.80	Assuming same as diesel
MGV	LNG	1	10.32	

Source: Authors' compilation from Argonne National Laboratory 2023; Vijaykumar, et al. 2021; Altigreen n.d., and OTO 2024

Note: 1) Maintenance costs for 4W have been compiled based on the top 90% of best-selling models, using data from online car portals.

2) The insurance costs for 4W, taxi, and SUV are expressed on a per-kilometre basis

3. Results and discussion



Based on the parameters mentioned in Section 2, we were able to calculate the TCO for each fuel type in a given vehicle category for different states for each year till 2050. This section shows the comparisons of TCO for various vehicle segments for all the states.

3.1 Two-wheeler

Figure 3 shows the TCO comparison for two-wheelers. Already, in 2024, electric 2W are cheaper on a TCO basis than their petrol counterparts. The estimates include the subsidies outlined under the PM e-drive scheme (actual values in 2024 and assumed values till 2026). The relative lack of EV model options, higher upfront costs, concerns around reliability and accessibility of charging infrastructure are among the major reasons why the share of electric two-wheelers in total sales is still low.



Figure 3 EVs are already cheaper to own and operate than petrol two-wheelers

Source: Authors' analysis

18

Note: The abbreviations denote official short forms of Indian states and union territories (UTs).

3.2 Three-wheelers

The comparisons in Figure 4 and Figure 5 show that, among the conventional fuels, CNG is a cheaper option for three-wheelers on average compared to petrol and diesel. However, EVs are again much cheaper on a TCO basis in 2024. The EV TCO could increase slightly towards 2030 and beyond; we assumed that the PM e-Drive subsidies will be gradually phased out. By 2050, we assumed that the charging tariffs would decline due to higher charger utilisation factors and lower input power costs (because of higher RE penetration in the grid and more dedicated RE and storage-based charging stations).



Figure 4 EVs are much cheaper to own for three-wheeler passenger vehicles

Source: Authors' analysis

Note: The abbreviations denote official short forms of Indian states and UTs.

19



Figure 5 Similar to 3W-P, EVs are cheaper to own and operate for 3W-G vehicles

Source: Authors' analysis

Note: The abbreviations denote official short forms of Indian states and UTs.

3.3 Four-wheeler, taxi and SUV

For four-wheelers, too, EVs are cheaper on a TCO basis than other fuels in many states. The low GST and compensation cess rates for EVs (at 5 per cent instead of 37–43 per cent) has greatly reduced the CAPEX premium. Thus, EV purchase decisions are likely constrained by charging infrastructure, range anxiety, and reliability concerns, and not prices in these states. However, in some states such as Karnataka, due to higher charging tariffs and lack of road-tax waivers for EVs, the TCOs for CNG and petrol are more competitive. Petrol-electric hybrid vehicles, often considered a good compromise between ICE and EV, are significantly more expensive, mainly due to the high GST and compensation cess (at 43 per cent), making them uncompetitive in this segment against EVs. However, hybrids may still play an important role beyond 2030 as a compromise option between pure-ICE and pure-EV in many states where the hybrid TCO is competitive against CNG and petrol. Note that the CAPEX (i.e., down payment and financing costs) of diesel vehicles are high because diesel engines are now generally restricted to more premium vehicles; of the top-90 per cent best-sellers, the average price of petrol vehicles was INR 952,000, whereas that of diesel vehicles was INR 1,385,000.





Source: Authors' analysis

Note: The abbreviations denote official short forms of Indian states and UTs.

For the SUV segment, petrol and diesel will continue to remain much cheaper than their counterparts for the foreseeable future; petrol hybrids have a competitive TCO in some states where the fuel prices are higher. However, the high EV TCO in 2024 is because of a lack of models on sale in the competitive price segments of INR 2–3 million (20–30 lakh). Several OEMs are planning to launch new EV models in this segment by 2030; the TCO then becomes cheaper on average than other options. However, considering that this segment consists of mainly aspirational vehicle buyers, we do not expect the lower EV TCO to be an important deciding factor in sales.



Figure 7 Diesel remains the cheapest to own and operate for the foreseeable future

Source: Authors' analysis

Note: The abbreviations denote official short forms of Indian states and UTs.

For the taxi segment, running costs play a bigger role in the TCO than the capital costs, as taxis have a much higher annual mileage compared to private cars. This makes EVs substantially cheaper to own for taxi drivers; however, they are limited by insufficient public chargers and long recharging times. The next cheapest option is CNG; taxis running on this fuel are widely adopted in cities and districts that have a good CNG refuelling infrastructure. By 2030 and beyond, petrol hybrids may become another important option in some states where CNG availability is limited.

Figure 8 EVs are highly competitive in the taxi segment due to their higher annual mileage



Source: Authors' analysis

Note: The abbreviations denote official short forms of Indian states and UTs.

3.4 Bus

22

Our analysis (Figure 9) indicates that the TCO of e-buses needs to reduce significantly to compete with diesel buses. The capital cost of e-buses is still much higher than diesel or CNG buses, even by 2030. Beyond 2030, we expect the e-bus TCO to decline, with larger-scale domestic manufacturing. Buses powered by CNG and LNG have a lower TCO on average than diesel buses but are limited by the respective distribution infrastructure. Hydrogen-powered buses remain uncompetitive till the late 2040s, post which H₂ FCEV buses have a lower TCO than H₂ ICE buses due to their higher fuel efficiency.



Figure 9 Gas-powered buses are cheaper than those running on traditional fuels

Source: Authors' analysis

Note: The abbreviations denote official short forms of Indian states and UTs.

3.5 Light goods vehicle (LGV)

For LGVs, the comparison is like that of 3W-G, with EVs being much cheaper already in 2024. The usage patterns of LGVs, being primarily for short trips in more urbanised regions (also like 3W-G), make them more suitable for an EV transition. Fleet operators of LGVs have a greater scope to adopt EVs, as they can also deploy charging stations in their own premises based on the fleet size, utilisation, and routes, making it more economical. For smaller operators, the higher upfront cost, lack of familiarity with EV operations/charging and relative lack of access to public fast chargers may prove detrimental.



Figure 10 EVs are again cheaper in the LGV segment

Note: The abbreviations denote official short forms of Indian states and UTs.

3.6 Medium and heavy goods vehicle

For M&HGVs, as seen in Figure 11 and Figure 12, EVs are more expensive than diesel, CNG, and LNG in 2024. At present, LNG is the cheapest fuel for HGVs, but refuelling infrastructure is nearly non-existent. While the TCO of electric M&HGVs will decline to become competitive beyond 2030, EV trucks will still be limited by a substantially lower range than diesel or natural gas-powered trucks (~250 km per charge vs ~600–800 km per refill). Thus, for the lower TCO to translate into market adoption, fast-charging capacity for heavy duty vehicles needs to be expanded significantly, and new battery technologies with higher energy density need to be commercialised.

In addition, dedicated charging infrastructure needs to be deployed with lower input costs of power (e.g., using dedicated RE and storage power plants instead of using grid power at commercial prices) to reduce the charging tariffs. We anticipate the cost of hydrogen-fuelled trucks to also decline steeply, considering the investments being made by Indian industry on green hydrogen. Post 2040, hydrogen fuel-cell electric trucks may become a suitable choice for long-distance routes, while electric trucks will get deployed on intra-district, short-haul segments.



Figure 11 EVs will become competitive within the next five years in MGV segment

Source: Authors' analysis

Note: The abbreviations denote official short forms of Indian states and UTs.





Source: Authors' analysis

Note: The abbreviations denote official short forms of Indian states and UTs.

4. Sensitivity analysis



G iven the numerous parameters involved in estimating the TCO, and the uncertainties surrounding the lack of reliable data, we conducted a sensitivity analysis on some of the critical parameters of the TCO. These include annual distance travelled, maintenance cost, vehicle CAPEX, and fuel economy. Annual distance travelled and maintenance cost were adjusted by increasing them by 50 per cent and 100 per cent and reducing them by 50 per cent from the base case. Vehicle CAPEX and fuel economy were varied by $\pm 10\%$ and $\pm 20\%$ from the base case. This section presents the sensitivity results for selected vehicle categories and parameters. For each vehicle category, the state with the highest vehicle stock from Mohan, et al. (2025) and the parameter with the maximum deviation was chosen for illustration purposes.

4.1 Two-wheeler

Figure 13 illustrates the TCO difference between petrol and electric 2W in Uttar Pradesh under varying annual distance scenarios. The smallest TCO difference between petrol and EV TCO was observed in the 50 per cent lower scenario at INR 0.65 per km. As the distance driven increases, the cost gap widens, reaching INR 0.95 per km for the base case and INR 1.06 per km for the 50 per cent higher distance scenario. This indicates that as you drive longer, EV becomes the most affordable option for two-wheelers. For EV, a 50 per cent reduction in distance travelled leads to an 85 per cent increase in TCO, while a 50 per cent increase in distance results in 28 per cent decrease in TCO. For petrol, a 50 per cent. These trends indicate that EVs benefit more from higher usage as the other fixed costs (like CAPEX) are spread over more kilometres. In contrast, petrol 2W experience a comparatively smaller cost benefit with increased usage due to their higher running costs.





Source: Authors' analysis

4.2 Four-wheeler

Figure 14 describes the impact of annual distance travelled on the TCO for different fuels in Maharashtra. When the distance travelled is reduced by 50 per cent, CNG emerges as the most cost-effective option. Among all fuel types, the rise in TCO due to lower distances is highest for EVs and lowest for petrol. Conversely, when distance increases, the TCO reduction is most significant for EVs and least for petrol. If the distance driven is reduced by 50 per cent, the TCO increases by 83 per cent for EVs, 71 per cent for CNG, 72 per cent for diesel, 77 per cent for petrol hybrid, and 58 per cent for petrol. As the distance travelled increases, EVs become the cheapest option, with a TCO reduction of approximately 28 per cent. These trends indicate that CNG is the more cost-effective option for lower usage, while EVs provide cost benefits for high-mileage users. In contrast, petrol and diesel remain relatively stable and do not offer significant cost benefits with changes in distance.



Figure 14 CNG is the most affordable option for low usage

4.3 Bus

Figure 15 illustrates the effect of distance travelled and maintenance costs on TCO for different fuels in Madhya Pradesh. Similar to four-wheelers, EVs experience the highest TCO increase when distance decreases, while diesel is the least affected. Conversely, the reduction in TCO due to higher distances is highest for EVs and lowest for diesel. Diesel, CNG, and LNG remain in a similar cost range if the distance is lowered, with CNG and LNG being the cheapest and EV the most expensive. As distance increases, the cost gap between CNG, LNG, and diesel widens. The most affordable option is LNG, followed by CNG and diesel. Electric vehicles have the highest TCO in both the base case and 50 per cent lower distance scenario, and it only marginally pips diesel if the distance travelled increases by 50 per cent.

In the case of maintenance costs, reduction in TCO due to lower maintenance costs is most significant for LNG and CNG, with decreases of 18 per cent and 17 per cent respectively, while EVs show the smallest reduction at 8 per cent. Similarly, an increase in maintenance leads to proportional rise in TCO, with LNG increasing by 18 per cent, CNG by 17 per cent, and EV by 8 per cent. For every 50 per cent change in maintenance costs, the impact on TCO is 17 per cent for CNG, 18 per cent for LNG, 16 per cent for Diesel, and 8 per cent for EV. Electric vehicles remain the most expensive option in all scenarios except one, where higher maintenance costs cause them to slightly surpass diesel, making them the third most affordable option after LNG and CNG.

Figure 15 LNG is the most affordable option irrespective of scenarios





Figure 15b) Sensitivity of Bus TCO to maintenance costs



Source: Authors' analysis

4.4 Light goods vehicle (LGV)

Figure 16 illustrates the effect of distance and maintenance on the TCO for different fuels in Maharashtra. Electric vehicles experience highest TCO reduction with increased distance, while diesel sees the smallest impact. Similarly, EVs also have the highest TCO increase when distance is reduced, with diesel being the least affected. Regardless of distance travelled, EVs remain the most affordable option across all scenarios. The maintenance cost has a minimal impact on TCO for this vehicle category, as fluctuations affect all fuels in similar proportions.

Figure 16 Maintenance cost is not a sensitive parameter for LGV

Figure 16a) Sensitivity of LGV TCO to annual distance travelled



Figure 16b) Sensitivity of LGV TCO to maintenance costs



Source: Authors' analysis

4.5 Heavy goods vehicle (HGV)

Figure 17 describes the impact of annual distance travelled and maintenance costs on TCO for different fuels in Maharashtra. The HGV category follows a similar pattern to LGVs, where EVs are the most impacted by distance travelled, while diesel is the least affected. As distance increases, the cost gap narrows between EV and other fuels, but even with a 50 per cent higher distance than the base case, EVs still remain the most expensive option, whereas LNG remains the most affordable option across all scenarios; LNG and CNG are the most sensitive to maintenance cost variations, while EVs are the least affected. For every 50 per cent variation in maintenance costs, the impact on TCO is 19 per cent for LNG, 17 per cent for CNG, 14 per cent for diesel, and 7 per cent for EV. As maintenance costs increase, the cost gap narrows between EV and other fuels, yet LNG remain the most economically viable option in all cases.

Figure 17 EVs are most sensitive to variations in distance travelled, while LNG is most sensitive to changes in maintenance costs



Figure 17a) Sensitivity of HGV TCO to annual distance travelled

Figure 17b) Sensitivity of HGV TCO to maintenance costs



5. Conclusions and policy recommendations



Our analysis has presented a comparison of total cost of ownership across different vehicle categories and fuel types for different states. The following sections discuss the overall findings and limitations.

5.1 Limitations and data uncertainties

Capital costs

- The sales data to estimate the capital costs for top-selling models for commercial vehicle segments was not available from SIAM. We instead relied on representative models and costs from various OEMs operating in the commercial space.
- The capital costs of EV powertrains are based on an overarching assumption that battery prices and associated balance-of-system costs will decrease over time. Likewise, the cost projections for hydrogen-powered vehicles assume reductions due to technological advancements in fuel cells.
- The cost projections for traditional powertrains (petrol, diesel, and CNG) remain constant over time. However, this doesn't hold true if the government mandates stricter emission norms.

Fuel costs

- We have based future crude and gas prices on the past 10-year average. Historically, these prices demonstrate cyclical patterns, influenced by global demand and geopolitical factors, making it challenging to forecast a definitive trend for the future.
- We assume by 2050, EV charging costs will reduce with increasing charger utilisation rates and lower input tariffs by 25 per cent. This scenario is realised only if the location of the charger is strategic, and high RE deployments result in lower input tariffs.
- Region/state-wise data on fuel sales was not available; we therefore could not accurately capture regional trends in fuel type or costs.

Fuel economy and annual mileage

- Fuel economy assumptions for EV and H₂ trucks are based on data from AFLEET and other sources (Argonne National Laboratory 2023); these could be different in the Indian context as the design and operational parameters of such vehicles are varied.
- Annual mileage assumptions have been taken at a vehicle segment-level. However, within segments, there will be significant variations in usage that have not been captured due to lack of data. Some studies stratify the utilisation of 2W and 4W for urban commutes, but this data does not account for other non-commute-related trips.
- For buses, there is insufficient data to stratify utilisation for city buses, intercity buses, staff/school buses, etc.

Vehicle life

• The TCO calculation annualises all costs and divides the sum of the annualised costs by the annual distance. Thus, the number of years for which a vehicle stays in the fleet plays a significant role in the TCO. In our analysis, we have used the medium survival rates given by Guttikunda (2024) to estimate the vehicle life.

Maintenance costs

• Data on annual per-km maintenance costs is sparsely available. We used a combination of various sources to arrive at the maintenance costs by fuel type for different vehicle segments. These values may change based on technological advancements, indigenisation of components, etc.

Since the goal of this study is to compare the costs of various powertrains within a vehicle segment, we have excluded certain cost parameters that are consistent across fuel types within a segment. For example, staff costs are a key component in calculating the TCO for a bus, but this cost remains unchanged regardless of powertrain, so it has been excluded. Similarly, toll charges are part of the TCO, but they have been consistent across fuel types within a segment.

5.2 Overall conclusions

Our comparisons show that for most vehicle segments, EVs are cheaper to own than their ICE counterparts by a fair margin. Among ICE powertrains, CNG and LNG are typically cheaper than average than petrol and diesel vehicles. Thus, for economically conscious buyers, which form a large portion of India's automobile market, alternate fuel vehicles are already more promising.

However, in all cases, the lack of suitable public infrastructure likely constrains the demand growth for these vehicles, apart from other considerations like driving range, reliability, recharging time, etc. For example, in the case of CNG, those states and districts that have a substantial number of CNG stations are seeing high levels of such vehicle registrations, especially in the commercial segment (VAHAN 2024). With expanding CNG infrastructure, demand for the fuel will rise due to the lower TCO.

In the case of EVs, segments such as 2W and 3W are already seeing surging registration numbers driven by the lower TCO. The difference in TCO of EVs versus other fuels is highest

for these two segments. For 4W, the EV TCO is similar to CNG and petrol TCO; consumers may prefer the conventional fuels as the upfront cost is low and refuelling infrastructure is more widespread. For taxis, the EV TCO is much lower than both petrol and CNG. In Delhi, for example, electric taxis are able to compete with CNG equivalents as there are widespread charging hubs. However, in other regions, EV taxis are yet to become popular. For larger vehicles like trucks and buses, efforts are needed to make the TCO more competitive with traditional fuels. Higher levels of indigenisation of EV powertrains and local production of cost-competitive batteries are required to reduce the capital costs.

Petrol hybrids are a good middle-ground option, as they offer a compromise between range and efficiency, but they suffer from high GST rates, making them less competitive. A revision in GST rates for hybrids for specific segments like taxis may be evaluated.

The TCO of LNG is the lowest for HGVs. Dedicated road-freight corridors can be established in those road routes/districts that are in proximity to LNG terminals; LNG trucks can have a range of over 1,000 km on a single tank, making regular routes viable.

On hydrogen, given the fact that the TCO becomes cheaper only beyond 2040, efforts can perhaps be focussed on FCEV powertrain indigenisation rather than H_2 ICE as the former is much more energy efficient. Hydrogen-fuelled vehicles may make sense only for long-distance, heavy duty operations, where battery EVs may be limited by range, weight, and charging time.

5.3 Recommendations

• **Battery financing schemes:** While EVs offer far lower running costs, the upfront cost of EVs continues to be 30–40 per cent higher than petrol or CNG vehicles, despite substantial GST, cess, and road-tax benefits. Because most vehicle buyers are highly price-conscious, taking on the additional CAPEX burden may not be a viable option, especially for commercial buyers who typically purchase vehicles through a loan. Therefore, decoupling the battery cost of the vehicle from the CAPEX, and instead, charging a monthly rental/ EMI for the battery pack, may prove beneficial. MG Motor India has recently announced a similar scheme, where the cost of the battery is removed from the initial price and buyers pay a fixed cost for the battery pack based on their mileage (MG Motor India 2024).

The Government of India, through banks and non-banking financial companies (NBFCs), can provide a fixed scheme for battery rentals across all vehicle segments, rather than relying solely on OEM schemes. Such a scheme can prioritise domestically manufactured battery packs for commercial/goods vehicles, where the assembled cost of the battery pack is repaid by the consumer as a loan at a fixed rate. This will greatly reduce the CAPEX burden for the consumer and generate revenue for the government.

• **Establishment of LNG corridors:** Figure 9 and Figure 12 show that LNG-powered buses and trucks currently have the lowest TCO in their respective segments. This gas can be priced lower than CNG, as it can be distributed and sold by the LNG import terminals or third-party providers without passing through city gas distribution companies that charge additional margins and cascading taxes. In states that have access to LNG terminals, LNG refuelling stations can be established along key highways that have regular movement of buses and trucks. The government must revise and upkeep its target for deployment and operation of LNG stations and come up with standardised guidelines and regulations on setting up and operating LNG stations, and for selling LNG.



EVs are cheaper to own than ICE vehicles in most segments while LNG is cheapest for buses and HGVs • **Data generation and transparency on running costs**: We found it unclear whether typical running and maintenance costs for EVs and hydrogen vehicles will be lower or higher than their petrol/diesel/CNG counterparts, as there have been no large-scale public trials to confirm the operating and maintenance costs, especially in the heavy duty segments. Annual maintenance costs play a significant role in the TCO of heavy duty vehicles, which typically have high annual mileage and wear-and-tear.

The government can empower leading institutions like the Indian Institutes of Technology, along with the Automotive Research Association of India (ARAI), to carry out public trials of diesel, CNG, EV, and H_2 buses and trucks on a comparative basis over a period of one year to generate data on maintenance costs, fuel efficiency, performance, etc., to better understand the status quo and avenues of improvements.

Data on maintenance costs can be made publicly available, at least for public e-buses operated under the GCC model in many cities. Under this model, the transit authority pays a fixed fee to a private operator for running public transport services. To improve transparency, state transport corporations and OEMs can provide operations and maintenance cost data by providing a breakdown of the GCC tariffs used. State transport authorities can also furnish running cost data on an annual basis for their diesel, CNG, and electric bus fleets separately, thus enhancing the quality and reliability of data available for researchers, policymakers and consumers.

• **R&D on emerging technologies for M&HGVs:** EVs are less competitive in the M&HGV segment, primarily because of limitations in battery range and extended recharging times. To enhance their competitiveness in this segment, more research efforts are required to improve energy density and reduce charging durations. Additionally, research efforts should also prioritise exploring diverse and advanced battery chemistries to support this transition.

While EVs are likely to become the cleaner and more cost-effective choice for shortand medium-distance routes in the near future, this may not be as practical for longdistance routes. These routes often require multiple stoppages, and without significant improvements in charging durations, EVs might not be a viable option. Hydrogen FCEVs present a solution for this segment, offering refuelling times comparable to diesel while eliminating tailpipe emissions. However, hydrogen FCEV trucks are currently six times more expensive than diesel trucks. As shown in Figure 12, hydrogen FCEVs are projected to become competitive by the early 2040s. Therefore, parallel research efforts are required to accelerate this transition and realise the potential of hydrogen in long-haul transportation.

Acronyms

тсо	total cost of ownership
GST	Goods and Services Tax
CNG	compressed natural gas
LNG	liquefied natural gas
EV	electric vehicle
ICE	internal combustion engine
FCEV	fuel-cell electric vehicle
SUV	sports utility vehicle
LGV	light goods vehicle
MGV	medium goods vehicle
HGV	heavy goods vehicle
CAPEX	capital expenditure
NBFC	non-banking financial company
OEM	original equipment manufacturer
ARAI	Automotive Research Association of India
GCC	gross cost contract
SIAM	Society of Indian Automobile Manufacturers
CGD	city gas distribution
AFLEET	Alternative Fuel Life-Cycle Environmental and Economic Transportation
R&D	Research and development
GDP	gross domestic product

References

Abraham, K. M. 2020. "How Comparable Are Sodium-Ion Batteries to Lithium-Ion Counterparts?" ACS Energy Letters 3544-3547.

Adani Total Gas Limited. 2023. "Building a Better Tomorrow." Annual Report, Ahmedabad.

- Altigreen. n.d. *How much can you save with an Electric Auto Rickshaw*. Accessed September 20, 2024. https://www.altigreen.com/ blog-3/how-much-can-you-save-with-an-electric-auto-rickshaw.
- Argonne National Laboratory. 2023. AFLEET ONLINE. Accessed December 16, 2024. https://afleet.es.anl.gov/afleet/.
- BloombergNEF. 2023. *Lithium-Ion Battery Pack Prices Hit Record Low of \$139/kWh*. 26 November. Accessed May 15, 2024. https://about.bnef.com/blog/lithium-ion-battery-pack-prices-hit-record-low-of-139-kwh/#:~:text=Technological%20innovation%20 and%20manufacturing%20improvement,over%20the%20past%20two%20years.
- BSES Rajdhani Power Limited. n.d. "List of Empanelled Partners & EV Charger Models ." Accessed December 17, 2024. https://www. bsesdelhi.com/documents/55701/1198720035/EV_Charger_Price_List_Private_Charging_Program.pdf.
- Bubeck, Steffen, Jan Tomaschek, and Ulrich Fahl. 2016. "Perspectives of electric mobility: Total cost of ownership of electric vehicles in Germany." *Transport Policy* 63-77.
- Bureau of Energy Efficiency. n.d. State Govt. Initiatives. Accessed December 17, 2024. https://evyatra.beeindia.gov.in/state-govt/.
- CarDekho. n.d. *Maruti Baleno vs Maruti FRONX comparison*. Accessed March 11, 2025. https://www.cardekho.com/compare/maruti-baleno-and-maruti-fronx.htm.
- Cars24. 2024. *Electric Vehicle (EV) charging station setup cost in India*. 29 October. Accessed December 16, 2024. https://www.cars24. com/article/cost-electric-car-charging-station-india/.
- Carwale. n.d. *Maruti Grand Vitara*. Accessed March 11, 2025. https://www.carwale.com/maruti-suzuki-cars/grand-vitara/?utm_ medium=cpc&utm_source=google&utm_campaign=Nexa_Grand_Vitara_Search_DS-GA-LD-CW&utm_term=maruti%20 grand%20vitara%20price&gad_source=1&gclid=CjoKCQjwm7q-BhDRARIsACD6-fX4D9XwaepYNYuhHpo2QWGNS4hd5Qz.
- CEEW-CEF. n.d. *State Policy Matrix*. Accessed December 16, 2024. https://www.ceew.in/cef/tools_and_dashboards/electric-mobility/ state-policy-matrix.
- Central Board of Indirect Taxes and Customs. 2024. *GST Rates*. Accessed December 10, 2024. https://cbic-gst.gov.in/gst-goods-services-rates.html.
- DIYguru. n.d. What is the cost of setting up EV Charging Station in India? Accessed December 17, 2024. https://diyguru.org/faq/costof-setting-up-ev-charging-station/.
- Eißler, Tobias, Gwendolyn Schumacher, Jochen Behrens, Friedrich Mendler, and Christopher Voglstätter. 2023. "Detailed Cost Analysis of Hydrogen Refueling Costs for Fleets." *Chemie Ingenieur Technik* 89-99. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/cite.202300123.
- Elango, Sabarish, and Hemant Mallya. 2021. *Small-scale LNG for Expanding Natural Gas Access in India*. Issue Brief, New Delhi: Council on Energy, Environment and Water.
- GAIL (India) Ltd. 2023. "In Pursuit of Excellence." Annual Report, New Delhi.
- Gupta, Nandini Sen. 2018. "Indian commuters travel 35 km/day, says survey." *The Times of India*, 03 March. https://timesofindia. indiatimes.com/business/india-business/indian-commuters-travel-35-km/day-says-survey/articleshow/63140954.cms.
- Guttikunda, Sarath K. 2024. "Vehicle Stock Numbers and Survival Functions for On-road Exhaust Emissions Analysis in India: 1993-2018." *Preprints*. doi:https://doi.org/10.20944/preprints202405.1393.v1.
- Hagman, Jens, Sofia Ritzén, Jenny Janhager Stier, and Yusak Susilo. 2016. "Total cost of ownership and its potential implications for battery electric vehicle diffusion." *Research in Transportation Business & Management* 11-17.
- Hecht, Ethan S., and Joseph Pratt. 2017. *Comparison of conventional vs. modular hydrogen refueling stations, and on-site production vs. delivery*. Albuquerque: Sandia National Laboratories. https://www.energy.gov/eere/fuelcells/articles/comparison-conventional-vs-modular-hydrogen-refueling-stations-and-site.

Indraprastha Gas Limited. 2023. "Empowering the Society, Fuelling the Economy." Annual Report, New Delhi.

37

Liu, Zhe, Juhyun Song, Joseph Kubal, Naresh Susarla, Kevin W. Knehr, Ehsan Islam, Paul Nelson, and Shabbir Ahmed. 2021. "Comparing total cost of ownership of battery electric vehicles and internal combustion engine vehicles." *Energy Policy*.

Mahanagar Gas Limited. 2023. "Enabling a Better Tomorrow for All." Annual Report, Mumbai.

- Malik, Leeza, and Geetam Tiwari. 2017. "Assessment of interstate freight vehicle characteristics and impact of future emission and fuel economy standards on their emissions in India." *Energy Policy* 108: 121-133. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2017.05.053.
- Mallya, Hemant, Deepak Yadav, Anushka Maheshwari, Nitin Bassi, and Prerna Prabhakar. 2024. Unlocking India's RE and Green Hydrogen Potential. Report, New Delhi: Council on Energy, Environment and Water.
- Melaina, M., and M. Penev. 2013. *Hydrogen Station Cost Estimates*. Golden: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy130sti/56412.pdf.
- MG Motor India. 2024. *MG Windsor to Disrupt the Car Industry*. 11 September. Accessed December 17, 2024. https://www.mgmotor. co.in/media-center/newsroom/mg-windsor-to-disrupt-the-car-industry.
- Mohan, Dharshan Siddarth, Sabarish Elango, Hemant Mallya, and Himani Jain. 2025. *How Will India's Vehicle Ownership Grow? A District-level Outlook to 2050*. Report, New Delhi: Council of Energy, Environment and Water.
- MoPNG. 2024. Indian Petroleum & Natural Gas Statistics 2022–23. New Delhi: Ministry of Petroleum and Natural Gas: Economics & Statistics Division.
- Office of the Principal Scientific Advisor to the Government of India. 2023. "Technology Assessment of Zero-emission Trucking on the Delhi-Jaipur Corridor." New Delhi.
- OTO. 2024. *Top 10 Low Maintenance Bikes in India for Your Stress Free Ride.* 16 Apr. Accessed September 20, 2024. https://www.otocapital.in/article/10-low-maintenance-bikes-in-india.
- Palmer, Kate, James E. Tate, Zia Wadud, and John Nellthorp. 2018. "Total cost of ownership and market share for hybrid and electric vehicles in the UK, US and Japan." *Applied Energy* 108-119.

Petroleum Planning and Analysis Cell [PPAC]. 2024. "India's Oil and Gas Ready Reckoner." New Delhi.

Power Finance Corporation Limited. 2022. "Report on Performance of Power Utilities 2020-21." New Delhi.

- S&P Global Mobility. 2024. BriefCASE: Sodium-ion batteries to unseat lithium? Na, but they'll be worth their salt. 20 March. Accessed December 2024, 16. https://www.spglobal.com/mobility/en/research-analysis/briefcase-sodium-ion-batteries-to-unseat-lithium.html.
- Sati, Akhilesh, Lydia Powell, and Vinod Kumar Tomar. 2021. "Road emission control: Electrifying personal mobility in India." *Expert Speak*, 09 October. https://www.orfonline.org/expert-speak/road-emission-control-electrifying-personal-mobility-inindia.
- Shah, Nimesh. 2019. *Cost Estimates and Revenue Model for a Public Charging Station (PCS)*. 7 January. Accessed December 16, 2024. https://www.pluginindia.com/blogs/cost-estimates-and-revenue-model-for-a-public-charging-station-pcs.
- SIAM. 2023. Publications. Accessed December 2024. https://www.siam.in/publications.aspx?mpgid=42&pgidtrail=44.
- Sorabjee, Hormazd. 2024. "Maruti to launch 35kpl+ Fronx hybrid in 2025." Autocar India, 08 February.
- Statiq. n.d. EV Charging Stations. Accessed March 10, 2025. https://www.statiq.in/ev-charging-station.
- Tigari, Harish, and H. B. Santhosh. 2020. "Socio-Economic Background of Auto-Rickshaw Drivers." *Shanlax International Journal of Management* 8 (1): 48-53. https://doi.org/10.34293/management.v8i1.3245.
- Vijaykumar, Aparna, Parveen Kumar, Pawan Mulukutla, and O. P. Agarwal. 2021. *Procurement of Electric Buses: Insights from Total Cost of Ownership (TCO) Analysis*. WRI India Ross Center. https://wri-india.org/sites/default/files/WRI_EBus_Procurement_Commentary_FINAL_o.pdf.
- Weeks, Daniel, and Santiago Canel Soria. 2024. "California hydrogen pump prices for light-duty vehicles reach new highs." *S&P Global*, 01 October. https://www.spglobal.com/commodity-insights/en/news-research/latest-news/energy-transition/100124-california-hydrogen-pump-prices-for-light-duty-vehicles-reach-new-highs.
- Wu, Geng, Alessandro Inderbitzin, and Catharina Bening. 2015. "Total cost of ownership of electric vehicles compared to conventional vehicles: A probabilistic analysis and projection across market segments." *Energy Policy* 196-214.

The authors



Sabarish Elango

Programme Lead sabarish.elango@ceew.in

Sabarish is a Programme Lead at CEEW, working on industrial energy transitions and decarbonisation. His work revolves around transition and adaptation pathways for key industries and natural gas systems. Sabarish holds a master's degree in Sustainable Energy Engineering from KTH Royal Institute of Technology, Sweden, and a bachelor's degree in Mechanical Engineering from Anna University, Chennai.



Dharshan Siddarth Mohan Programme Associate dharshan.mohan@ceew.in

Dharshan is a Programme Associate at CEEW, working on identifying net-zero pathways for Indian industries, carrying out techno-economic assessment of alternative technologies, and designing robust energy policies. He holds a master's degree in Sustainable Energy Engineering from KTH Royal Institute of Technology, Sweden, and a bachelor's degree in Mechanical Engineering from SASTRA University, Thanjavur.



Himani Jain Senior Programme Lead himani.jain@ceew.in

Himani Jain is a Senior Programme Lead at The Council. She connects the dots between emerging technologies, travel behaviour patterns, and land use. She holds a doctorate in transport planning from IIT Delhi, and is an alumna of CEPT, Ahmedabad.



Hemant Mallya

Fellow hemant.mallya@ceew.in

Hemant is a Fellow at CEEW and leads the Industrial Sustainability team in four broad areas– energy transition and industrial decarbonisation; carbon management; circular economy and innovation; and R&D. He has nearly 20 years of experience in energy, environment, and climate change-related issues. Hemant holds a dual M.S. in Industrial Engineering and Operations Research from Pennsylvania State University, USA, and a B.E. from Mumbai University.



Virendra Ade

Consultant virendra.ade@ceew.in

Virendra was formerly a Consultant at CEEW, working on decarbonisation pathways for Indian industries, and energy transition to cleaner fuels, primarily green hydrogen and natural gas. Virendra is an alumnus of IIT Bombay.

COUNCIL ON ENERGY, ENVIRONMENT AND WATER (CEEW)

ISID Campus 4, Vasant Kunj Institutional Area New Delhi - 110070, India T: +91 11 4073 3300 info@ceew.in | ceew.in | @CEEWIndia | @ ceewIndia



Scan to download the study